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● (1540)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. John Williamson (New Brunswick South‐

west, CPC)): I call this meeting to order.
[Translation]

Welcome to the 69th meeting of the House of Commons Stand‐
ing Committee on Public Accounts.
[English]

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Monday, April 24, 2023, the committee resumes its
study of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation.

I'd now like to welcome our witness. From the Pierre Elliott
Trudeau Foundation, we have Mr. Edward Johnson, chair of the
board of directors.

Thank you for joining us today.

Mr. Johnson, before I give you your five minutes, I think I have
a....

Yes, go ahead, Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné.
[Translation]

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné (Terrebonne, BQ): I have a
point of order, Mr. Chair.

I'm going to read you an excerpt from House of Commons Proce‐
dure and Practice, and then I'd like you to confirm something for
me.

It says the following:
It is generally accepted that witnesses have a duty to speak the truth regardless of

whether or not their testimony is given under oath. The decision as to the swearing-in
of witnesses is left entirely to the discretion of the committee. […]

Although the testimony of a witness before a parliamentary committee is protected
by parliamentary privilege, if a committee determines that a witness has wilfully lied
or misled it, the matter could be reported to the House. If the House finds that the wit‐
ness has deliberately misled the committee, the witness could be found in contempt of
the House whether the witness is under oath or not.

Can you confirm to me that this would apply where appropriate?
[English]

The Chair: That is my understanding, whenever anyone ap‐
pears.

I'll turn to the clerk. I'm getting the affirmative. That is correct.
That is a standard rule or regulation that oversees all business be‐
fore the committee.

On this same point of order, go ahead, Mrs Shanahan.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan (Châteauguay—Lacolle, Lib.): I

would like to review with the clerk, then, the usual procedure when
witnesses are invited.

Is that not the kind of thing that's discussed with them, so it's
clear that this is the duty of the witness when they come before Par‐
liament? Could the clerk explain a bit about how witnesses are in‐
vited and how we do that in a respectful and professional manner?

The Chair: Wait one moment, please.

Instead of trying to repeat it, I will ask the clerk to state it.
The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Carine Grand-Jean): Basi‐

cally, when witnesses are invited to appear at the committee, they
are coming with the will to say the truth. We are working on the ba‐
sis that they are saying the truth.

The Chair: Okay. I think this is resolved.

Mr. Johnson, I apologize for that. You have the floor for five
minutes. If you need a few more seconds, I allow witnesses to fin‐
ish up their thoughts. I'm diligent with the clock, but I will endeav‐
our not to ever cut you off.

It's over to you, sir.
Mr. Edward Johnson (Chair of the Board of Directors, Pierre

Elliott Trudeau Foundation): Thank you, Chairman. I'll try to
stay within that constraint.

The Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation is a non-partisan charita‐
ble scholarship foundation that was created in 2002 with broad
cross-party support in the House of Commons. The first board of
directors included Bill Davis, Roy Romanow and Peter Lougheed.
It was granted a $125-million endowment by the government.

Since then, it has spent some $95 million on programs, plus ap‐
proximately another $20 million to $25 million on delivering those
programs, on the administrative side. In total, that's an amount
that's pretty close to the original endowment. During that time, we
have provided 295 doctoral scholarships, plus mentorships and fel‐
lowships—88 fellowships and 163 mentorships. We achieved that
without touching the capital, which now stands at $145 million. We
have not asked for a cent of new money from the government in 21
years.

Today we rank up there with Rhodes, MacArthur and Fulbright
as a sought-after scholarship. Many of our scholars say their in‐
volvement was life changing.
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Our directors and members are all volunteers. The Trudeau fami‐
ly has no financial interest whatsoever in the foundation.

The foundation, over the past 21 years, is doing what it was sup‐
posed to do with the taxpayers' money. In tight compliance with our
funding agreement, we deliver a very simple, four-point program:
scholarships, mentorships, fellowships and a public interaction pro‐
gram. We are meant to make a significant contribution to the future
of Canada, and we have delivered to the letter.

The foundation has been subjected to unwarranted and unfair at‐
tacks, which began in late February, revolving around a donation
totalling $140,000 from a Chinese Canadian entity. These put huge
pressure on the board of directors. In this context, let me note on
record for this committee that we were never offered $1 million,
and we never received any red flags from CSIS.

It's important that I respond to some earlier testimony by our for‐
mer president and three former directors at the House ethics com‐
mittee.

At no time did any director receive a legal opinion that they were
in a conflict of interest involving the 2014 to 2017 Chinese dona‐
tion.

In my case, I didn't need a legal opinion to tell me what I instinc‐
tively knew. I was on the board at the time of those donations, so I
should not be involved in the oversight of any outside review of
them, although my potential conflict of interest might have been
purely perceived, not legal. At no time did I resist or attempt to nar‐
row such an independent review.

Indeed, within 10 days of the first news story, I urged that we
needed an independent review and that it should be overseen not by
management and not by me, but by a special committee of three di‐
rectors who had had no involvement whatsoever in the foundation
in the years 2014 to 2017. I phoned every board member individu‐
ally in mid-March and discussed this. On March 24, I remarked to
our lawyers how supportive our directors were of our president and
me in the trying circumstances of intense national attention.

I proposed oversight by an independent committee at the full
board meeting on March 31. As to my eligibility to chair that meet‐
ing, there is no doubt that my interests aligned perfectly with the in‐
terests of the foundation. I wanted an independent review and so
did the rest of the board. It was my duty, as chair, to preside.

There were two outside lawyers from two firms advising the
board at that meeting. Both said that they had not given opinions on
conflicts of interest. Neither they nor any director questioned my
legitimacy to chair or to vote at that meeting. At no point was there
a motion for any directors to recuse themselves, nor was there any
refusal to do so by any director.

Over the subsequent week, by Easter Thursday, a consensus
emerged among most directors, in my view, that indeed the outside
review should be overseen by a special committee of three, as I had
originally recommended, and that the review should not report to
management. To my utter surprise and disappointment, the board
resigned on Easter Monday—April 10.

● (1545)

Knowing that those resignations would stall any outside review
for weeks, I wrote the Auditor General on April 14, three days after
the board resignations, to ask her to investigate all aspects of the re‐
ceipt and handling of these donations by the foundation.

Finally, for our scholars, mentors and fellows, I want to say a
special word to them and to our marvellous team at the foundation
and to our community. Looking ahead, the Pierre Elliot Trudeau
Foundation will continue to provide its outstanding academic pro‐
gram. Thanks to the volunteers on our finance committee, we con‐
tinue to be well financed. Our excellent team is working ahead on
the announcement of our next cohort and planned leadership devel‐
opment events.

It's an exciting future heading into our 23rd year.

Thank you.

● (1550)

The Chair: Thank you.

My apologies for the alarm—that was not my intention—but I
have a new stopwatch. I'm going to endeavour to fix that so I don't
interrupt. MPs know that I will stop them when the buzzer goes, but
I will allow the witness to finish answering the question.

Colleagues, my attempt this morning is to get through three or
four rounds, so I will be watching the clock particularly closely.
That takes us to just under the hour and 15 minutes that we have
scheduled.

Without further ado, Mr. Brock, welcome to committee.

You have the floor, for six minutes, please.

Mr. Larry Brock (Brantford—Brant, CPC): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Welcome to committee, Mr. Johnson.

You may or may not remember, but we had an opportunity to talk
to each other just over a month ago.

I want to basically start off by completing the circle, so to speak.
I left you to consider following through on a couple of undertak‐
ings. Do you remember the exchange that you and I had, sir?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I do indeed, and the foundation respond‐
ed the next day—I hope, adequately—to the three requests.
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Mr. Larry Brock: Okay, I haven't seen that correspondence. I'm
not impugning your credibility or character, sir, by any stretch. It
may have gone to the committee, but it didn't actually come to my
attention.

Are you able to elaborate as to the details that I asked you to con‐
sider?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, indeed.

If you'll allow me, I can read a relatively short email, which was
in response to your questions.

There's a recital at the beginning to the clerk of the committee.
Please find below the information requested:

On March 1, 2023, upon the initiative of the President and CEO Pascale
Fournier and with the approval of the Board's Executive Committee, the Foun‐
dation sent a cheque in the amount of $140,000 to reimburse the donation that
had been received by the Foundation in two $70,000 tranches in 2016 and 2017.
The cheque was signed by directors Bruce McNiven and Peter Sahlas, drawn to
the order of Millennium Golden Eagle International (Canada), the Canadian cor‐
poration that made the donations, and sent via Canada Post....

I'm going to summarize because I know you're time is limited.
I'll just whip through some of these paragraphs.

The foundation issued a statement the same day declaring that it
had been refunded, but on March 21, 2023, after three failed deliv‐
ery attempts, Canada Post returned to the foundation the envelope
containing the reimbursement cheque.

After the resignation of the president and CEO on April 10,
2023, the directors learned that in early April, the foundation staff
reporting to the president had contacted the Bank of Montreal to
confirm the origin of the two payments back in 2016 and 2017. The
bank confirmed on April 23 that both payments were received by
electronic transfer from the Canadian corporate entity listed on the
CRA receipts that had been issued by the foundation, and that the
two payments originated from its Montreal—that is the donor's—
bank account, which was still open in 2023 and in good standing.

This information had never been provided to the board, which
had recently been led to believe that one of the two $70,000 pay‐
ments may have originated in China and that the foundation's CRA
receipts may have been improperly issued.

On April 12, 2023, the $140,000 cheque that had been returned
to the foundation by Canada Post was delivered directly to the
donor's downtown Montreal branch of the Bank of Montreal. The
cheque was provided to the donor's account manager at the branch,
who deposited the cheque immediately and confirmed the deposit
in writing.

The foundation is taking the appropriate steps with the CRA in
regard to the above. The CRA receipts that were issued in 2016 and
2017 were both issued to the same Canadian corporation, Millenni‐
um Golden Eagle International (Canada). The first receipt was ad‐
dressed overseas and the second receipt, approximately one year
later, was addressed to the corporation's Canadian address.
● (1555)

Mr. Larry Brock: Did the latter part of what you just described
to me, sir, come from the bank—that information?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Which part was that? The fact that the
account was there...?

Mr. Larry Brock: Yes.
Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, it was.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

Was what you read out the information transferred to the ethics
committee the day after your testimony?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, that's correct. I'm reading from the
memo to the clerk of the ethics committee.

Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

There are a couple of issues I have with that.

From your perspective, sir, $140,000 was redeposited electroni‐
cally in the Canadian bank account of Millennium Golden Eagle In‐
ternational (Canada) Inc.

Is that correct?
Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm not sure it was done electronically. I

think the cheque was delivered to the bank. The same cheque we
attempted to deliver some weeks earlier was—

Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

Did you receive any confirmation—

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes.

Mr. Larry Brock: —from Millennium—

Mr. Edward Johnson: It wasn't from Millennium.

Mr. Larry Brock: —upon receipt?

I'm sorry. Could we talk one at a time, sir?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm sorry.

Mr. Larry Brock: Did you receive a receipt or some type of ac‐
knowledgement from Millennium that they, in fact, re‐
ceived $140,000 directly into their bank account?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Not to my knowledge.... It was con‐
firmed to us by the bank that the funds had been deposited into that
account. To my knowledge, there was no response from Millenni‐
um.

Mr. Larry Brock: Did you exercise any due diligence, sir, to de‐
termine who the directors of that corporation are?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I did not, but I believe people at the
foundation did. They determined who was in charge.

I know a letter was also sent informing Millennium...to Millenni‐
um's Canadian address. I don't believe we received a response to
that letter.

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Bradford, you have the floor for six minutes.
Ms. Valerie Bradford (Kitchener South—Hespeler, Lib.):

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Johnson, for appearing today and for your ful‐
some opening statement that provides a lot of background.
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Building on that, as someone who has been involved with the
Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation since its inception in 2001, can
you provide a summary of how the foundation was created, what its
initial mandate was and how its mandate and operations have
evolved over the past 22 years?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Thank you.

Its mandate was to essentially do what we're doing today, which
is to provide a four-element program: scholarships, mentorships,
fellowships and public interaction programs. We were to provide
our scholarships as doctoral scholarships in the social sciences and
humanities. The reasoning at the time was.... I believe it remains
even more true today—we are awash in doctoral scholarships in the
fields of applied science, technology, engineering and so on. How‐
ever, what's lacking is adequate support in the social sciences and
humanities, which are, arguably, the backbone of a democratic soci‐
ety and an advanced society: studying human rights, civil liberties,
foreign policy and Canada's place in the world. These issues don't
get studied in technology school.

That was the rationale behind it and essentially our program.
Where's the value added? Why is a Trudeau scholarship different
from any other? The big element is our leadership program, which
takes scholars out of their comfort zone and introduces them,
through mentors, fellows and other people, to aspects of Canada
and the world that they would not otherwise be introduced to. We
call that “engaged leadership”. We believe that adds a certain value
to a Trudeau scholarship that isn't necessarily obtained in other cas‐
es.

We've done 295 of those scholarships. They're very substantial,
very highly regarded and very sought-after. We had many hundreds
of applications for a dozen openings last year.
● (1600)

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Can you expand on “very substantial”?
Can you quantify that?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, it's $60,000, or $40,000 in straight
scholarship money. There's a travel allowance of, I believe,
about $10,000.

Here's another value-added aspect. There's $5,000 to improve the
scholar's language capabilities. Usually, scholars spend that in the
official language other than their mother tongue. We've had some
amazing results with that money. We have people, particularly
those who are bilingual and didn't really need to do work in another
official language.... One of them, I remember distinctly, was learn‐
ing Huron, the indigenous language.

I think it's a testament to the quality of the people we are bring‐
ing in as scholars and to the value-added of our program.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: There are 12 of these scholarships
awarded every year.

Mr. Edward Johnson: That's correct. We had 13 scholars in to‐
tal, I believe, this past year, of which 12 were straight Trudeau
scholars and one was under the Trudeau-Green scholarship pro‐
gram. A benefactor has agreed to sponsor one additional scholar‐
ship.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Thank you.

To refresh our memories, did all political parties support the cre‐
ation of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation?

Mr. Edward Johnson: There was no vote in the House, but
there were statements of support. They were overwhelmingly in
favour, but there was one party that, predictably, was a little luke‐
warm. The NDP, the Conservatives and the Liberals, etc., were very
supportive.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: You've already stated that it's a non-par‐
tisan charitable foundation.

Mr. Edward Johnson: That's correct.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Are the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Founda‐
tion scholarship recipients vetted according to their partisan or ide‐
ological leanings?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Absolutely not.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: What about the foundation board mem‐
bers? Are they vetted according to the—

Mr. Edward Johnson: No. Do you mean for political involve‐
ment?

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Or ideological leanings...?

Mr. Edward Johnson: No.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: What about the foundation staff? Is it the
same situation?

Mr. Edward Johnson: No. No way.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: What is the relationship between the
Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation and the federal government?

Mr. Edward Johnson: We have a funding agreement. Our con‐
nection—and our only connection—is through the funding agree‐
ment with ISED, or Innovation, Science and Economic Develop‐
ment Canada. As I mentioned earlier, we have been studiously pur‐
suing compliance with that agreement over the 21 years, and we've
delivered to the letter on the expectations set out in that agreement.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: You originally got—

The Chair: Ms. Bradford, I'm afraid that is the time, but we will
come back to you. That was a good discussion.

[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné, you have the floor for six minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to thank Mr. Johnson for being here today.
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I'll begin with a comment about the context for our study. As you
mentioned earlier, we in the Bloc Québécois have nothing against
the recipients of scholarships and the potentially honourable princi‐
ple of awarding scholarships to brilliant students. That's not at all
where we're at. It is nevertheless important to specify that a non-
profit organization, particularly when it has received funds from the
government, has certain governance and transparency duties to the
population. That's what my questions will be about.

In your opening statement, Mr. Johnson, you mentioned two gifts
of $70,000 each. I believe you said that both receipts were issued to
the Millennium Golden Eagle International company in Canada.

Mr. Edward Johnson: The name of the company on the receipts
is the name of the Canadian subsidiary of Millennium Golden Ea‐
gle International. One of these receipts also bears the names of the
two individuals who held discussions with the University of Mon‐
treal.

I would remind you that the discussions surrounding the gifts be‐
gan when the former Canadian ambassador to China introduced
Mr. Zhang Bin to the University of Montreal. Our understanding is
that he was the director or head of the company. He was the one
who conducted the negotiations with the university, and it was the
university that asked Alexandre Trudeau, who testified before an‐
other parliamentary committee a few weeks ago, whether the uni‐
versity could use Pierre Elliott Trudeau's name. The million dollar
gift followed a $400 thousand gift made two years earlier to the
University of Toronto's faculty of medicine in memory of Norman
Bethune. This time, the gift was in memory of Pierre Elliott
Trudeau, who established relations between Canada and China, and
who was also a professor in the University of Montreal's law facul‐
ty.
● (1605)

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Good. Thank you. I'll stop
you there because my speaking time is limited.

You appear to be well informed about the gift to the University
of Montreal. However, when you testified before the Standing
Committee on Access to Information, Ethics and Privacy, you
didn't appear to have very much information about the $140,000
amount that was gifted by this company to you, the name of which
I still hesitate to pronounce because I find it ridiculous. At the very
least, I find it surprising that you would not have been aware of that
gift, because you were sitting on the audit committee that very year.

According to standard procedure, the audit committee is respon‐
sible for ensuring that the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation
demonstrates financial transparency and monitors the independent
audit process.

Mr. Edward Johnson: That is indeed the role of that committee.
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: That's right.

I find it hard to believe, Mr. Johnson, given that you sit on the
committee, that you're not aware of gifts received by the founda‐
tion.

How would you explain that?
Mr. Edward Johnson: It's important to remember the words

spoken by the legendary Warren Buffett a few years ago:

[English]

“Audit committees can't audit.”

[Translation]

The role of an audit committee is not to study every expenditure,
gift or detail.

It's also worth noting the difference between the role of the man‐
agement team on the one hand, and that of the board of directors on
the other. The management role is to propose measures and imple‐
ment them. The role of the board of directors is to monitor and ap‐
prove how things are being done.

The volunteers on the audit team can't be familiar with all the de‐
tails of every gift in any given year. To my knowledge, that's not
done by any organization.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Okay.

Approximately how much did the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Founda‐
tion receive that year? If you have a monitoring role, then you
should be aware of figures like that.

Mr. Edward Johnson: We were told that amount back then, but
I can no longer recall it. I believe it was between $1 million
and $1.5 million.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: That accounts for about 10%
of what the foundation would have received, meaning that it's a
fairly significant amount

Mr. Edward Johnson: No, in context, it was a very small
amount. It comes to a small fraction of 1% of our endowment fund.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Mr. Chair, how much speak‐
ing time do I have left?

The Chair: You have about 10 seconds.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: In that case, I'll return to these
questions a little later.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for six minutes, please.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais (Edmonton Griesbach, NDP): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair.

I also want to thank Mr. Johnson for being present with us today.

As I'm sure you're aware...because you've been to several com‐
mittees at the House of Commons here. I understand you were at
privacy and ethics as well maybe four weeks ago now.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Right.
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Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Our committee, in correlation with some
of the other committees, are taking on the work of trying to find the
best way forward to ensure that Canadians have the kind of integri‐
ty and trust in the system that is most important to our country, our
democracy. I want to attempt to ask you questions that will provide
the most information against what is, I understand, a very politi‐
cized environment. I want to recognize that very important fact and
attempt to find reason and good information from you to try to bet‐
ter the understanding, but mostly to better the attempt of Canadians
to understand this in a better way.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Fair enough.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Agreed.

At the committee, my colleague from Hamilton Centre asked you
this question:

Would you agree that one of the ways to best provide the most amount of clarity
around this—because we've now sat through many witnesses, and I'm not sure
we have clarity—would be to be included in a public inquiry, should David
Johnston, at the end of his special rapporteur position, present that?

At that time, your response was, “I don't think that would be nec‐
essary in order to clear the name of the foundation.”

Do you remember that exchange?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Vaguely, yes.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Over a month has passed since that mo‐
ment. Of course, just recently we found that the special rapporteur
did not recommend a public inquiry.

Has your opinion, given the situation that has presented itself
across Canada, changed in that matter of fact, in particular around
trying to build confidence in Canadians for how important our
democracy really is?
● (1610)

Mr. Edward Johnson: I haven't really changed my view. I don't
believe that sort of inclusion would be constructive or necessary.
As I said in my opening comments, I have promoted the idea of an
independent outside review of the donation. We're talking here
of $140,000 in a foundation whose current capital is over $145 mil‐
lion. I don't believe it would be constructive or necessary.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: In the sense that I believe it's necessary
and that I believe it's important, perceptions are often as damaging
as the truth. In fact, our democracy is something that oftentimes
deals with opinion and perception together.

As responsible legislators, as responsible leaders in our commu‐
nity and as folks who want to attempt to uphold the most sacred
practices of our institutions, it's to that effect that I believe a public
inquiry is necessary. It's beyond the facts of making your founda‐
tion guilty or not. It's just the fact that it's a public concern now and
weighs into the public consciousness as to the credibility of our
democracy. Wouldn't you agree?

Mr. Edward Johnson: No, I'm sorry. I don't believe there's a
lack of transparency on our part in any way. We've been quite trans‐
parent at the foundation about this donation and about the circum‐
stances surrounding it. We've returned the donation. What's left to
inquire?

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I think the important piece—

Mr. Edward Johnson: If I may, I think what we should do that
would be constructive would be an independent outside review of
the circumstances—of all the circumstances, as I said in my note
here.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: What I did appreciate from your work
thus far in order to try to clear the name of the foundation was the
fact that you did ask the Auditor General to look into an investiga‐
tion. In some ways, I do recognize that there has been some action,
but in your contemplation of requesting that of the Auditor General,
there has to be some admission that there is something of percep‐
tion that is wrong.

Mr. Edward Johnson: There were allegations—

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Exactly...perceptions.

Mr. Edward Johnson: —that were very unfair.

I must say, as I've said over and over again, this is very unfair.
There was a donation and the receipt of a donation in 2016, negoti‐
ated in 2014 and 2015, received in 2016 and 2017—

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Mr. Johnson, I'm sorry. I just want to get
back to the important piece of my question related to your request
to the Auditor General and why you felt it was important to send
that letter.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Well, because there was a perception.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Exactly, so—

Mr. Edward Johnson: There was an argument. There were alle‐
gations—quite unfair allegations.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Yes, you've said that. I've heard that.

Would you agree, however, that...? We received the Auditor Gen‐
eral in this committee to ask her the question of whether or not this
would take place, whether or not she would investigate. At that
time, she told us that it was not within her parliamentary power, so
of course it was my motion at that time, which I thought was in‐
cumbent upon this committee, to look at other means to do it. The
CRA, for example is one of those arms. It is independent. It has the
power to look at and take on the kind of information related to this.

Would you agree that the CRA may be an important aspect of
this investigation?
● (1615)

Mr. Edward Johnson: It would be up to them, up to the CRA, if
it wanted to do that, but if I could finish my thought—

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Would you consent to that—

Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm sorry?

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Would you consent to the CRA?
Mr. Edward Johnson: Of course. If the CRA comes calling, any

taxpayer pays attention.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Has the CRA contacted the organization?
Mr. Edward Johnson: I will say, though, that we've endeav‐

oured to be compliant in all respects of the Income Tax Act and our
obligations to the CRA.
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Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Of course, I'm not making that allegation.
I'm making the comment of—

The Chair: I'm afraid that is your time, Mr. Desjarlais.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you, Chair.

The Chair: We'll turn now to the start of our second round and
of course each round has six questioners.

Mr. Brock, you have the floor again, for five minutes.
Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you.

Mr. Johnson, I just want to clarify. It is your belief today, as I be‐
lieve it was your belief when you last testified before Ethics, that
the $140,000 came from a Canadian corporation—is that cor‐
rect?—the Millennium Golden Eagle corporation?

Mr. Edward Johnson: That is my belief.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

Either, sir, you have not done enough research on this particular
issue, or your handlers or someone within the foundation is not giv‐
ing you the straight goods, because the foundation gave the ethics
committee a series of documents. I'm looking at one particular doc‐
ument, which is a banking document from your institution, the
BMO, which has the Trudeau Foundation as its customer. On July
25, 2016, the foundation received not a Canadian donation but
rather an international donation of $70,000. Were you aware of
that?

Mr. Edward Johnson: No, I was not.

Mr. Larry Brock: Okay—

Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm not sure it makes a difference—
Mr. Larry Brock: I think it makes a big difference sir, with all

due respect.

It makes a big difference because the committee members pre‐
sented to you on May 9 a series of red flags that, for someone with
your intellect and your business acumen, and the fact that you are a
lawyer, the fact that you are the chair of the foundation, should
have raised a number of red flags.

I know that you went into that committee, as you went into this
committee, talking about “unfair” ungrounded allegations. Well,
let's talk about facts.

We're not talking about simple intelligence. We're not talking
about simple rumours. We're talking about an intercepted recorded
conversation between CSIS and one of the donors, Mr. Bin Zhang,
and a Toronto consulate, who was promised as follows. The donor,
Mr. Bin Zhang, was told by the Communist Party in Beijing to offer
the money in the hopes of influencing the new Liberal leader, Justin
Trudeau, and—surprise, surprise—money flows in, the foundation
reaches an agreement with Mr. Zhang and Mr. Gensheng, and with‐
in five months, both of those businessmen, those Chinese business‐
men—not Canadian businessmen—were granted private access to
the newly minted Prime Minister. That didn't raise a red flag to
you.

Furthermore, sir, we have a real discrepancy when it comes to
the tax receipts.

The first tax receipt I brought to your attention was issued to the
Millennium Golden Eagle International Canadian-incorporated
company, with an address in Hong Kong, and then Beijing inter‐
fered, contacted the foundation, contacted one of your employees
and said, “Sorry, wrong address, send it to Beijing.” I told you, sir,
that the address that Millennium Golden Eagle International
(Canada) Inc. originally gave the foundation was fake. A reporter
went to Hong Kong and knocked on the door. They'd never heard
of the corporation and they'd never heard of Mr. Bin Zhang or knew
Mr. Niu Gensheng.

That didn't raise any red flags to you as the chair of the board ei‐
ther—did it?

Mr. Edward Johnson: To be fair, we wouldn't have been aware
of any of that at the time, but also, I must say the story—

Mr. Larry Brock: Hold on, sir. The foundation was aware of
that because the foundation was contacted by Beijing to redirect the
receipt.

● (1620)

Mr. Edward Johnson: I've looked at that—

Mr. Larry Brock: Sir, with due respect, you were aware of that.

Now the second receipt that came in 2017 lists the same corpora‐
tion, this time to an address in Brossard, Quebec, and it lists Zhang
Bin and Niu Gensheng, notwithstanding this particular address does
not accord with the address the corporation was registered under,
which is in Dorval, Quebec. Did you know that, sir?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I've heard that. Again, the difference be‐
tween a registered address and a business address with many corpo‐
rations is quite different.

Mr. Larry Brock: Sir, I think it's important, because your past
CEO, Mr. Rosenberg, misled and in fact lied to Canadians, and I
would probably suggest he misled the Canada Revenue Agency, by
suggesting this was, in fact, a Canadian donation as opposed to a
foreign donation—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Brock.

Mr. Larry Brock: —and that was the concern Ms. Fournier had.

The Chair: That is your time, Mr. Brock.

Ms. Shanahan, you have the floor now for five minutes.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you, Chair.

I would like to thank the witness for being here.

Mr. Johnson, please take this opportunity to respond to some of
the allegations we heard from the other side.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Thank you.
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I have a couple of points to follow up on what Mr. Brock has laid
out. Number one, the story that I did read, and that started the ball
rolling on February 28, alleged that a consular official at the Chi‐
nese embassy had been in touch with Mr. Zhang in Canada and had
instructed him to give a million dollars to the Pierre Elliott Trudeau
Foundation. The foundation was never offered a million dollars.
The million dollars went to the University of Montreal, so I have
difficulty connecting the allegation in that story with the facts. That
story has never been confirmed, to my knowledge, by a government
official or by CSIS. The amount I want to underline that was actu‐
ally received by the foundation was $140,000 over two years. The
facts don't accord with the allegation.

The use of a Hong Kong address.... If I make a donation to the
Red Cross and I'm going to be in Florida at tax time, I ask the Red
Cross to send the receipt to me in Florida in a different jurisdiction.
That doesn't make a difference. I'm a Canadian. I'm a Canadian tax‐
payer, and I made the donation. I've always felt that similar logic
applies to the case of this particular donation. The donor was a
Canadian corporation—Millennium Golden Eagle International
(Canada). That's the donor, and the receipt was made out to the
name of that Canadian donor. Frankly, the receipt would be of no
value to a non-Canadian taxpayer—to an entity that's not paying
Canadian taxes.

If I may just add one broader thought taken from 10,000 feet, I
am concerned—deeply concerned—to see the receipt of a donation
in 2016 being judged by the standards of 2023 vis-à-vis China.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Why do you say that?
Mr. Edward Johnson: It's because the context has changed so

much.

The years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 were all material times in
connection with this donation. Canadian universities were falling
all over themselves to develop relations with China and Canadian
corporations, ditto. The Government of Canada, in 2014, I believe
the prime minister of the day visited China, as did the president of
France and the chancellor of Germany.

The predictions were that China was going to be taking over the
world economically by 2045. It was going to pass the gross domes‐
tic product of the United States. Canadians were working energeti‐
cally to develop relations, and then, in the case of Canada, the two
Michaels were kidnapped, and the world changed.

Today it's a fundamentally different world, and China appears to
have done some very nasty things, some utterly inappropriate
things, not only in Canada but in other western democracies.
There's a serious threat there that must be dealt with, but that wasn't
the case in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017.
● (1625)

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you for that fulsome response,
Mr. Johnson.

I'd like to come back to what this committee does. We are the
standing committee, the audit committee, for the Government of
Canada.

I very much enjoyed the remark that you quoted from Warren
Buffet that audit committees do not go line by line, because, if

you've seen the public accounts, you know that there are three vol‐
umes.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Indeed....
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thankfully so, because we have, of

course, the very competent and professional—
The Chair: Ms. Shanahan, I'm afraid I'm going to have to inter‐

rupt. Your time has elapsed.
[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné, you have the floor for two and a half
minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'm going to get back to what I was asking about earlier.

However, the information just provided by the colleague to my
right differs considerably from what you just said, Mr. Johnson. He
said that one of the receipts was sent to China, whereas you just
told me that it was sent to Canada.

Mr. Edward Johnson: No, what I said was that the receipt was
issued in the name of a Canadian corporation. As I explained in my
hypothetical example, if I give $100 to the Canadian Red Cross…

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: There's no need for you to re‐
peat it. My speaking time is very limited.

The information is still contradictory. Even though the company
has a subsidiary in Canada, the receipt for the gift was actually sent
to China.

I'd like to ask you a question about the potential conflict of inter‐
est you mentioned in your opening address. You said that you had
never received a legal opinion, but did you ever receive an informal
conflict of interest opinion?

Mr. Edward Johnson: If you mean an informal opinion from a
lawyer, the answer is no.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Did you receive an informal
opinion from the foundation's management, for example?

Mr. Edward Johnson: No, I did not receive an opinion from the
management or staff. However, I held discussions with at least one
director, perhaps more, on the possibility that one of us might be in
a conflict of interest position, or at least be perceived to be so.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Ms. Dyane Adam, who testi‐
fied before the standing committee on access to information, priva‐
cy and ethics, mentioned several times at various meetings that
there was a potential issue about you and others being in a conflict
of interest because you were sitting on the audit committee when
the foundation received the gift.

Why do you think you weren't in a conflict of interest? It's only
common sense, because you were on the audit committee at the
time.

Mr. Edward Johnson: I don't see why that's inherently a con‐
flict of interest.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: When members of manage‐
ment suggested that you were in a conflict of interest position, did
you perhaps think it might be a good idea to resign?
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Mr. Edward Johnson: I seriously considered it, but disagreed
with them. For 33 years, I was the secretary and legal counsel for a
major Quebec-based Canadian public corporation. My view was
that I was not in a conflict of interest position, and certainly not in a
legal conflict.

However, as I said in my opening address, it was nevertheless
important for me not to be involved in an inquiry into the circum‐
stances surrounding the acceptance of these gifts, because I was on
the legal side…
● (1630)

The Chair: Thank you very much…
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: And yet the perception of a

conflict of interest is often more harmful than the conflict itself.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné.

[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Johnson, I'd like to continue on the important aspect of try‐
ing to find a way to see that this information you're sharing with us,
the information that is shared by my Conservative colleagues and
the information shared by even the Liberal colleagues and the
Bloc.... You can see you're being asked questions from may differ‐
ent angles. Some questions are friendlier than others.

I'm most interested in trying to find a way, just like you in some
ways, to have an independent but public inquiry because of this di‐
vergence of political opinion. I understand from your testimony to‐
day that you're opposed to a public inquiry.

Can you explain, given—
Mr. Edward Johnson: What do you mean by a public inquiry?
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I mean a public inquiry in the sense that

there would be officials that would be independent—
Mr. Edward Johnson: From government...?
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Independent, but not in the sense that

David Johnston was, for example. That is a question of perception.
It was that he wasn't independent.

I'm saying that I want a public inquiry. Canadians would like a
public inquiry where there isn't even a perceived conflict.

Mr. Edward Johnson: So do I.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I'm not talking about a legal conflict. I

heard you make mention of that. As you know, especially in the le‐
gal profession, perceived conflicts are almost just as dangerous in
particular when we're thinking of something so important, like
Canadian democracy. We often don't have to think about it in a
country like Canada. We often believe it's very secure.

In this case, Canadians are nervous. You made mention in your
own comments to Mrs. Shanahan in questions about China, saying,
“There's a serious threat there that must be” taken care of.

How does one take care of that when we don't have the co-opera‐
tion, I'd say, of civil society to look at...? Even if they are not
guilty—which is not what I'm saying— it's important to have an in‐

dependent public process that isn't an appointment by the Prime
Minister, for example.

Mr. Edward Johnson: One that is appointed by Parliament, do
you mean?

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I don't mean appointed by Parliament ei‐
ther. I'm speaking more specifically of a public inquiry, which is
more similar to the public inquiries we've had in Canada in the past,
which look at experts, maybe even a judge that could do some of
this work.

I need to understand what you believe is in the best interests of
Canadians, considering you have admitted that the Auditor General
should investigate.

There's a level of perception you've understood that needed to be
changed.

Mr. Edward Johnson: I have advocated since early March for
an independent, outside review of all circumstances surrounding
the receipt of this donation.

At the foundation, we have established an inquiry with two wise
persons from outside the foundation with no relationship whatsoev‐
er. They have been working over the last couple of weeks at begin‐
ning to pursue an inquiry along that line. They are overseeing the
work of legal counsel who are doing the legal work in connection
with the review of all circumstances surrounding the two donations
and receipt of those two donations.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That is the time.

I'm going back to Mr. Brock.

You have the floor for five minutes, sir.
Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, Chair.

Mr. Johnson, I understand that you know quite well our former
governor general, Mr. David Johnston.

Mr. Edward Johnson: “Quite well” would be an exaggeration.
I've met him a couple times. That's it.

Mr. Larry Brock: He's a foundation member.
Mr. Edward Johnson: He was a member of the foundation from

2018 until earlier this year.
Mr. Larry Brock: He left the foundation as a result of accepting

the appointment as the special adviser to the Prime Minister.
Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm guessing that's the case—
Mr. Larry Brock: It coincided with the same day.

● (1635)

Mr. Edward Johnson: It's important to understand what the role
of the members is. The distinction—

Mr. Larry Brock: I don't need to know the roles. Thank you. I
just wanted to confirm the relationship aspect.

At any point in time prior to the release of his first report to
Canadians, did he reach out to you in person, by letter, email or
what have you to discuss the circumstances surrounding the foreign
interference issue pertaining to the foundation and the origins of
the $140,000 cheque?

Was that discussed between the two of you?
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Mr. Edward Johnson: No, I have received no such communica‐
tion from him.

Mr. Larry Brock: Did any member of his team reach out to you
to discuss that, sir? He has a very vast firm, full of lawyers and con‐
sultants and what have you. Did anyone, to your knowledge, reach
out to a foundation member—

Mr. Edward Johnson: Not to the foundation. Not to my knowl‐
edge.

Mr. Larry Brock: You, personally, did not reach out to him to
give your side of the story. Is that correct?

Mr. Edward Johnson: That's correct.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

I understand that Ms. Fournier had some issues with respect to
the donation that ultimately led to her resignation. She discovered
that the Millennium Golden Eagle International (Canada) Inc. was,
in fact, associated with Beijing's China Cultural Industry Associa‐
tion. She also found out that the industry association was communi‐
cating with Trudeau Foundation employees about admitting infor‐
mation on a donation tax receipt.

The website of that China Cultural Industry Association says it
adheres to the “total leadership” of the China Communist Party and
was formed with state approval. It lists Mr. Zhang Bin as its presi‐
dent. As per that association, Millennium Golden Eagle Internation‐
al (Canada) has Bin Zhang as the chairman, and it was created with
the approval of Beijing, China.

Knowing what I know now, and what Pascale Fournier knew,
about Millennium Golden Eagle, do you agree, sir, given your vast
knowledge of corporate law, of corporations in general and of gen‐
eral governance, etc....? Would you agree with me, sir, that Millen‐
nium Golden Eagle International is, in fact, a shell company operat‐
ed by Beijing, China?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I have no knowledge of any facts that
would support that.

Mr. Larry Brock: Would you agree with me, sir, that they
proudly and publicly take their marching orders from the govern‐
ment in Beijing?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Again, I'd have to say the same thing. I'm
afraid I have no knowledge of what their relationship might be with
their government.

Mr. Larry Brock: Were you aware that Zhang Bin, one of the
donors, was a political adviser to the communist regime based in
Beijing?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I've read that, yes.
Mr. Larry Brock: Was that known to you prior to your appear‐

ance, sir?
Mr. Edward Johnson: Today...?
Mr. Larry Brock: Yes.
Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes. I read about it a while ago. I can't

say when.
Mr. Larry Brock: Was it known to you at the time the donation

was made?
Mr. Edward Johnson: No, not to me. I must say—

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm having a really hard time understanding
why Beijing is communicating directly with the foundation—not
Zhang Bin, not Mr. Gensheng and not Millennium Golden Eagle
situated in Canada, but Beijing—giving instructions to the founda‐
tion about how the donation receipt should be titled and where it
should go. You, as the chairman of the board, just surprisingly had
no knowledge of this.

Mr. Edward Johnson: I certainly had no knowledge at the time.
I wasn't aware of the donation. I first learned about it a couple of
years after it had been made.

Mr. Larry Brock: I would hope, sir, that these people are fired.
This is a serious matter. It complicates the foundation and potential‐
ly exposes the foundation to legal risks with the Canada Revenue
Agency.

Do you see that potential, sir?
Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm not convinced by some of these as‐

sertions and allegations. With great respect, I have my doubts
about.... I have looked at the 160 pages of information relating to it,
which I believe was every document that the foundation had, which
was provided some years ago and—

Mr. Larry Brock: Pascale Fournier—
The Chair: Mr. Brock, your time is up. I allowed Mr. Johnson to

answer the question.

We'll turn now to Mr. Fragiskatos.

You have the floor for five minutes.
Mr. Peter Fragiskatos (London North Centre, Lib.): Thank

you, Chair.

I'll split my time with Ms. Shanahan, and I'll turn it to her first.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you very much.

I'm very interested in this question you asked of the Auditor
General to come to audit the foundation, which strikes me as the
action of a chair and a foundation that have nothing to hide. Of
course, it's not in the scope of her work.

Mr. Edward Johnson: As it turns out.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Does the foundation have auditors?
Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: You have outside auditors. Has that al‐

ways been the case?
Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, it has been.

● (1640)

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Indeed, I would think it has, with $145
million under administration.

Has it ever been the case that the auditors have come back with a
less-than-clean audit of the foundation's financials?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Never. We've had a clean opinion every
year.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Were any red flags ever raised con‐
cerning donations—domestic, foreign or otherwise?
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Mr. Edward Johnson: No, not to my knowledge, and I was
chair of the committee for a number of years and on it before that. I
recall no such allegations or concerns with respect to any of our do‐
nations.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you very much, Mr. Johnson.
Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you for being here today, Mr.

Johnson.

Earlier.... I don't think it was in your testimony, actually. I think it
was in response to a question from Ms. Bradford, my colleague
next to me. You tied the social sciences and humanities, generally,
to democracy. The vision of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation
takes very seriously the idea that the humanities and social sci‐
ences, in general, are central to the maintenance of democracy.

I wonder whether you could expand on that a bit.
Mr. Edward Johnson: I remember reading, a number of years

ago, an exchange in which somebody said, “No, we should be shift‐
ing all our attention in education, particularly in higher education,
to training people. Let's get out of teaching Shakespeare and
Wordsworth. Why do we need to know Roman history? It's the age
of technology. That's where the future is, and it's a waste of taxpay‐
er money to be funding universities to do that.”

Someone else wrote in to this exchange going on in the newspa‐
per and said, “No, in a time of rapid change, you teach the things
that don't change. Social sciences and humanities take us into areas
where....” Of course, there are new developments and new knowl‐
edge being uncovered. However, they're the fundamentals of a
democracy. They're fundamental and, as I said, the backbone of a
liberal democracy—small-l liberal, I hasten to add.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Of course. That's noted.

Mr. Johnson, the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation has funded
the research of students focused on a number of different subjects,
obviously. It has done so for a number of years. Those students cur‐
rently receiving support and, certainly, who have benefited from
support, I'm sure, look at this situation with great regret, if not wor‐
ry.

I have to ask you this: Where is the direction of the foundation
going? This issue has become politicized from start to finish. What
is the future of the foundation now?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I was at pains to say, in my opening re‐
marks, that the future is solid. We have a bright future ahead of us.
We hope very soon to be announcing our next cohort of scholars,
mentors and fellows. If you want evidence of the solidity of the
foundation and its programs, I think that will be it.

On top of that, as I think our current scholars would attest, we
are continuing to work ahead on the various elements of our leader‐
ship program so that events are taking place over the course of the
summer. For example, there are a number of gatherings of scholars,
fellows and mentors in various places around the country, but also
internationally. Our value-added program in, as I like to call it, “en‐
gaged learning” is going strong, so I hope scholars will take heart.

Thank you for the question.
Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you very much.

That's my time.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We're going to get through the third and final round.

Mr. Johnson, how are you doing? Do you need a little break, or
are you good?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I'm okay, thanks. I'm hanging in there.

The Chair: Okay. We'll keep going. We'll have you out of here
in about 25 minutes, then.

We're turning now to Mr. McCauley.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Kelly McCauley (Edmonton West, CPC): It's actually Mr.
Brock.

The Chair: Mr. Brock is not in his chair, so the clock is running
here.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: Mr. Brock is running back.

The Chair: All right, Mr. Brock. You have the floor for just un‐
der five minutes now.

Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, Chair.

It's unfortunate, Mr. Johnson, that it appears your former CEO,
Pascale Fournier, is the only one who has a strong level of honesty
and ethics. When I listened to and reviewed the evidence of Mr.
Rosenberg, he saw the same red flags that Pascale Fournier did and
did absolutely nothing about it.

What I want to ask you, sir, though, is that I've looked at some
correspondence from Pascale Fournier dated March 25, 2023, to a
number of board members—you're listed as the top line in that par‐
ticular email—and she outlines all of her discoveries line by line,
paragraph by paragraph, event after event, literally almost but with‐
out using the word “fraud” in terms of her concerns about how you
publicly stated this donation was a Canadian donation when it
clearly was not. It was foreign from Beijing, China. I think what is
concerning me and I want to ask you questions about, sir, is that she
asked your legal counsel, the foundation's legal counsel, a number
of questions. Who was your legal counsel on March 25, 2023?

● (1645)

Mr. Edward Johnson: It was the firm of Borden Ladner Ger‐
vais.

Mr. Larry Brock: Is that out of Montreal?

Mr. Edward Johnson: The Montreal office was our counsel.
They're a national firm.

Mr. Larry Brock: Did you have a particular lawyer who over‐
saw the file?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, let's see, we had Michael Grodinsky
in the Montreal office who was involved with the file.
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Mr. Larry Brock: She was going to send three specific ques‐
tions to legal counsel. The first question was in relation to various
tax receipts, the various names on the tax receipts, and the question
put to legal counsel was this: “Is this consistent with the law, both
Canadian law and our own Policy on acceptance of gifts? Is there
anything we should be aware in terms of CRA and ISED compli‐
ance?”

Then the second question was this: “One of the tax receipts in‐
cludes an address in China without the names of the donors, at the
explicit request of the China Cultural Industry Association, while
mentioning the Quebec-based real estate company. Is this consis‐
tent with the law, both Canadian law and our own Policy on accep‐
tance of gifts? Is there anything we should be aware in terms of
CRA and ISED compliance?”

Did legal counsel receive the request to answer those questions?
What was their response?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I believe they did. The whole idea here
was that these are issues that should be examined in detail.

Mr. Larry Brock: Examined by whom?
Mr. Edward Johnson: By legal counsel in detail.
Mr. Larry Brock: They looked into it and gave you an opinion.
Mr. Edward Johnson: No answer and no opinion has been re‐

ceived because, a few days later, President Fournier fired that firm
from the file and replaced them.

Mr. Larry Brock: With a different law firm...?
Mr. Edward Johnson: With a different law firm.
Mr. Larry Brock: Did the different law firm receive the same

questions?
Mr. Edward Johnson: I believe they did, but—
Mr. Larry Brock: What was the other law firm?
Mr. Edward Johnson: It was Miller Thomson.
Mr. Larry Brock: All right. Did you get a response from Miller

Thomson?
Mr. Edward Johnson: No—
Mr. Larry Brock: Why?
Mr. Edward Johnson: There was no response because their in‐

volvement with that file terminated, because it was found that they
had done some work for us. They were not independent of us.

Mr. Larry Brock: Did you go to a third law firm?
Mr. Edward Johnson: Then within a very short time, the board

resigned, so—
Mr. Larry Brock: Did you go to a third law firm?
Mr. Edward Johnson: We have now gone to a third law firm in

the last few weeks.
Mr. Larry Brock: To have these questions answered...?
Mr. Edward Johnson: To have those questions and others—a

broad range of questions—answered.
Mr. Larry Brock: What's the name of that new law firm?
Mr. Edward Johnson: That is Norton Rose.

Mr. Larry Brock: When did you retain them to give you a legal
opinion on this issue?

Mr. Edward Johnson: It would have been I'm guessing two to
three weeks ago, two weeks ago, at least. I was out of the country
and not aware at the time. I was not involved.

Mr. Larry Brock: Given the highly important matter before Par‐
liament on this particular issue, are you prepared to give us an un‐
dertaking to release portions of that legal opinion?

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Brock. That's your time.

I'll allow a brief answer, Mr. Johnson.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, we're happy to tell the results of that
inquiry and share them with whoever would be interested.

The Chair: Turning back to the government bench now, Mr.
Sidhu, you have the floor for five minutes, please.

Pardon me, Ms. Bradford. You have the floor for five minutes.

● (1650)

Ms. Valerie Bradford: I can do it. I wasn't on the list.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu (Brampton East, Lib.): I can start.

Thank you, Mr. Chair. I will be splitting my time with Ms. Brad‐
ford.

Thank you, Mr. Johnson, for being here today with us.

I want to know more about the important work the foundation
does to provide support for students and their education. Can you
speak a little bit more about how many students have been helped
over the number of years and what the impact has been on the
youth across Canada?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I should point out at the beginning that
we do doctoral scholarships. We have done 295 scholarships with a
total of $60,000 a year for each scholarship, and the scholarships
last for three years.

In addition to that, we engage mentors. We have had 163 mentors
since we were started in 2002, and we have also done 88 fellow‐
ships. The mentors and the fellows assist the scholars in their work
and work at broadening their program outside the areas of their spe‐
cific and often very narrow areas of study. They take them into oth‐
er aspects of life in Canada and around the world in an effort to in‐
culcate a leadership ability among these very high-flying scholars
and to try to encourage them to be able to share their knowledge
with the broader public in ways that are understandable to Canadi‐
ans.

That's the essence of our program. On top of that, we have this
public interaction program, which is precisely that, where they get
out and see parts of the country and broaden their horizons beyond
their narrow areas of study.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Johnson, you started out with $125-million endowment, and
it has now grown to $145 million.
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Can you tell me how you fund and sustain these 12 scholarships
of $60,000 a year without having to touch any of that capital?

Mr. Edward Johnson: We use the income from the endowment.
We have invested the endowment in an investment program. The
asset allocation in that program is approved by the government, by
the finance department and the ISED department, so we're pretty
conservative investors, but the result is that we have been able to
provide funds through those investments, dividend and interest in‐
come as well as the odd capital gain. That has been successful in
funding our agreement in our activities.

Any excess, if we're lucky enough to have a year where we ex‐
ceed, goes back into the endowment. That's why we're at $145 mil‐
lion up from originally $125 million.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Can you give us a sense of the average
rate of return you're getting on your—

Mr. Edward Johnson: The last six years or so, I think it's either
5% or 5.5%.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: What are some of the ways that Canadi‐
ans can support the foundation?

Mr. Edward Johnson: They can donate. They're always wel‐
come. I made a pitch back in November to encourage everyone, in‐
cluding members of our community, to support us and assist us be‐
cause, I have to tell you, we need that help. There's a problem.

Yes, we built the endowment, but we're falling short of inflation.
As inflation grows and as inflation gets ahead of us, we have a gap.

If we want to operate our same inflation-adjusted program we
started out with in 2022, we think we should have something in the
neighbourhood of $170 million, so we have a gap to close there.
That's what we have been working on over the years in our devel‐
opment program.
● (1655)

Ms. Valerie Bradford: What are the short-, medium- and long-
term impacts of investing in students and their futures through
scholarships, in your opinion?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Potentially, they are huge over the long
run. We can count senior public servants, senior academics, people
in the academic world and people in public office, for example,
who have been through our program, and I would argue, have had
their horizons broadened by it. Some have told us that it was life-
changing for them.

I would commend a book by one of our scholars, an indigenous
gentleman named Jesse Thistle, who has written—

The Chair: Thank you very much. That is the time.
[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné, The floor is yours for two and a half
minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you very much,
Mr. Chair.

I'm returning to what I was talking about earlier.

As you know, the appearance of a conflict of interest is often
more harmful than the conflict itself. Several of your colleagues

testified before the Standing Committee on Access to Information,
Privacy and Ethics, specifically Ms. Fournier, Ms. Adam, and
Ms. Redfern, to the effect that they had told you they thought you
were in a conflict of interest.

Why should your opinion, as you explained it earlier, take prece‐
dence over the opinion of these three women from the foundation?

Mr. Edward Johnson: It was…

[English]

I'm going to have to say this in English because my vocabulary is
failing me at the moment.

As I mentioned in my opening remarks,

[Translation]

I didn't need that legal opinion.

[English]

I was already saying that I should not be involved, nor should
President Fournier, in the oversight of any independent inquiry.
That's why I proposed that we set up an independent committee of
three directors who had not been involved with the foundation in
any way in 2014 to 2018.

[Translation]

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: To your knowledge, did the
foundation invest any of its funds in Chinese companies close to
the Beijing government?

Mr. Edward Johnson: One of the directors of the foundation
who appeared before the other parliamentary committee last week,
Ms. Madeleine Redfern, raised that issue two years ago. At her re‐
quest, we arranged a special meeting to discuss it. Unfortunately,
we were unable to attend the meeting, but we did find that there had
been, I believe, two such investments. According to the information
I have, our investment managers have since sold these investments.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Now, given that you are on
the finance and investment committee, don't you find it odd that
you should have learned about these investments only two or three
weeks ago? That's the first thing. Secondly…

Mr. Edward Johnson: No, no…

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: So you knew about it already.

Mr. Edward Johnson: I was made aware of these Chinese in‐
vestments two years ago, I believe.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: You knew it already and you
thought it was okay.

Mr. Edward Johnson: No. We withdrew from these invest‐
ments.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Was that done two years ago?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I can't tell you exactly when it happened.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Nevertheless, you had ap‐
proved these investments.
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Mr. Edward Johnson: We asked the investment managers to get
rid of them. We normally don't know what's in the portfolio.

We have policies, including environmental, social and gover‐
nance policies, which are based on United Nations recommenda‐
tions. We inform our managers of these policies and expect invest‐
ments to be consistent with them. We are satisfied with the work
that was done. Every year, our managers give us presentations to
confirm that investments comply with our policies.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, we'll go over to you for two and a half minutes,
please.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Chair.

Mr. Johnson, I want to follow up on what I believe is the most
important role for parliamentarians at this time. I hope you can in‐
dulge me with attempting to empathize with the role that parlia‐
mentarians are in when we're seeing this tremendously concerning
situation across the country that puts into doubt the credibility of
our institutions. That's a real fact. Whether it's true or not, the per‐
ception is damaging.

In order for us to clear the air and in order for us to have true
trust in these institutions, I believe that a public inquiry under the
public inquiries act is important. It would provide for an indepen‐
dent commission that would have the powers that your organiza‐
tion—although it could establish one—wouldn't have, which are
the power to subpoena, second documents and do the very things
that are contemplated in the public inquiries act. It's why we have a
public inquiries act.

If organizations are able to just “independently” audit them‐
selves, the perception doesn't go away. You're going to be back here
next year if that happens. Trust me. It's going to be continuous. It's
just going to go on and on until we have true trust in the process.

The outcome is important, but the process is equally important as
well, which is why I do appreciate your attempt to involve the Au‐
ditor General. Of course, that wasn't going to be case. She said she
wasn't able to do that. I made a motion here to have the CRA do
that. The reality with the CRA is that they have to undergo their
own processes. It's up to them as to whether or not they audit that,
but it's a recommendation I have and it's the recommendation of
this committee.

A public inquiry, I think, would go a long way to restoring not
only the public faith that we have in our institutions, but also even
in your institution. Wouldn't you agree?
● (1700)

Mr. Edward Johnson: Boy, things have changed in the inter‐
vening...in the last six or seven years. There's a lot to be very con‐
cerned about with China and with other governments.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Agreed.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Something has to be done. There are
some really important and disturbing activities that have carried on,
which are now being identified, particularly in the last few years.
Whether that should be studied by a public inquiry is not something

for which I have an opinion. It's certainly not one that would mat‐
ter.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Okay. That's actually beneficial.

The Chair: I'm afraid that is your time, Mr. Desjarlais. I apolo‐
gize about that, but I'm under the clock as well.

Mr. Kram, you have the floor for five minutes please.

Mr. Michael Kram (Regina—Wascana, CPC): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Thank you to Mr. Johnson for being here today.

I was wondering if we could just tie up some loose ends with the
time we have left.

You had indicated that you were poring through 165 pages of
documents. Could you elaborate on what these 165 pages are for?

Mr. Edward Johnson: It's the 160 pages that were provided. I
believe the ethics committee has them. We would be very happy to
provide them to this committee, if that's requested.

Mr. Michael Kram: Yes, please. If you could please table them
to this committee as well, that would be very helpful.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Okay. Will do.

My understanding is that it's everything we had on the donations
back in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, including the agreement, the
receipts and all the relevant stuff—all the stuff. Anything that
breathed about those donations is in that package—with a lot of
repetition, I have to say.

Mr. Michael Kram: Okay.

You had indicated that you asked the Auditor General to audit
the foundation, but it was also indicated that you have auditors that
audit the foundation every year, according to the financial state‐
ments on the foundation's website. It's PricewaterhouseCoopers.

What did you suppose the Auditor General would find that Price‐
waterhouseCoopers missed?

Mr. Edward Johnson: The way auditors work is that they do
random tests. That's how all auditors—PwC and everyone in that
industry—does it. They can't possibly be expected to go through
line by line. The cost of that kind of audit would be horrendous.

Their audit is not as thorough as a targeted.... They do a shotgun,
but we wanted a rifle. I wanted a rifle. I wanted it focused on the
specifics of the receiving of—to be clear—these two donations and
the circumstances around them in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017.

I thought she'd do it. I thought we had a high probability that the
Auditor General would accept it. We are a recipient of public mon‐
ey, so why wouldn't she? But she has said that we're outside her ju‐
risdiction.

● (1705)

Mr. Michael Kram: I only have a bit of time left, Mr. Johnson.
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When it comes to the donation from Millennium Golden Eagle
and the circumstances around the address in Dorval or China, was
any of that information withheld from PricewaterhouseCoopers
when they did their audit?

Mr. Edward Johnson: To my knowledge, no, absolutely not.
There would be no reason to withhold it.

However, it has to be said that it's the purview of management. I
think it's very important to know and recall the differences between
the roles of directors and management. That's why I wouldn't know
about something specific like that. Directors are not involved in the
day-to-day operations of the foundation, nor in dealing with the au‐
ditors on a case-by-case, file-by-file and line-by-line basis in the fi‐
nancial statements.

Mr. Michael Kram: At the ethics committee on May 9, you in‐
dicated that the foundation had bylaws, but you don't recall any
specific bylaws that deal with foreign influence. You've had a
month now to review the foundation's bylaws.

Do you have any policies or bylaws to prevent foreign interfer‐
ence at this time?

Mr. Edward Johnson: There's nothing in the bylaws.

We have significantly revised our donations policy. Somewhere
back around 2020, we did an in-depth review of our donations poli‐
cy. It was particularly in the wake of those donations in the news
and the stories that were created, without any knowledge whatsoev‐
er of the so-called CSIS allegations.

We've resolved that. It covers those restrictions on donations.
The examination of donations is strict enough to ensure we're not
being unduly influenced by our donors.

Mr. Michael Kram: Mr. Johnson, I'm told I only have 30 sec‐
onds left.

I wonder whether you could table for the committee the old and
new donations policies that the foundation now has.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Absolutely.
Mr. Michael Kram: I believe I'm out of time, Mr. Chair.
Mr. Edward Johnson: Mr. Chair, on a point of information, to

whom should we send it?
The Chair: Send it to the clerk of this committee, who does

great work for us. The clerk keeps us on track and our documents in
order.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Very good. Okay.

The Chair: Thank you for asking so that it does get to us.

Now, turning back to the last question spot, I have Mr. Sidhu for
a few minutes.

I understand you might split your time. That is your decision. It's
all yours for five minutes.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Johnson, for being here with us today.

When I think about Pierre Elliott Trudeau, I think about my par‐
ents who came to Canada in the early 1980s. I know what that

means to my father and my family. It was an opportunity to come to
a country to build a future. That's something my parents will never
forget.

Mr. Edward Johnson: They must be very proud of you.
Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Yes. It's an honour to sit here and repre‐

sent my community and my family at this table.

What I want to ask is this: What does the Pierre Elliott Trudeau
Foundation name mean to the students who have gone through the
scholarship programs? Why does that name have such a significant
value?

Mr. Edward Johnson: I hope it means something, at least to
some of them, that would resonate. A lot of them weren't born
when Mr. Trudeau was prime minister.

I think the values he stood for were human rights and dignity. He
had a deep interest in foreign and social policy. His interest in the
social sciences and humanities was an important part of his legacy.
I hope—and I think it's probably the case—that most of our schol‐
ars would recognize the importance of his legacy and its influence
on the foundation. That's particular, as I said earlier, to the social
sciences and humanities.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Thank you for that. It's very important.

You spoke about the close to 300 scholars who went through this
foundation. Where do these scholars end up? Are they across
Canada? Are they imparting the Canadian message abroad? What is
it?

Mr. Edward Johnson: Up to 20% or 25% of our scholars are
non-Canadians. Most years, we have a significant non-Canadian el‐
ement. There are graduates from our program—I think I can safely
say—literally around the world. Our community is quite broad. The
students are both here in Canada and...internationally.

The contribution.... Again, if you have a cohort of 12, 14 or 15
scholars, and two or three are from outside Canada, the exchanges
are so rich. The changing of the lives of a number of our scholars
has been invaluable, and it continues to be, I believe.
● (1710)

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: That's good to see that the Pierre Elliott
Trudeau Foundation.... The name Pierre Elliott Trudeau represents
opportunity for not only immigrants but also for scholars here in
this country. It really provides that opportunity to grow, to give
back and to share Canadian values with those who are like-minded.

I'm going to turn to my colleague to finish off the last minute and
a half.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you very much.

Can I go back, Mr. Johnson, to my previous question in the earli‐
er round? You said that the foundation will continue. You're quite
confident in that. That's great, because the foundation has done
very good work supporting students.

Let me challenge you on that a bit. We've seen other organiza‐
tions where issues have become politicized. Their future has been
thrown into real question and jeopardy. You are confident, then,
that the organization will continue to be able to support students in
the way that it has.
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Mr. Edward Johnson: Very much so, and I have every reason to
believe that there continues to be an enthusiastic interest in apply‐
ing for a Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation scholarship. I think the
proof will be in the tasting. I hope that we will be announcing our
next cohort in the coming days, and I think that will be evidence of
the vibrancy of the foundation and the continued success of its pro‐
gram.

As I was mentioning earlier, we're going to be also doing the val‐
ue-added programs, the engaged leadership program, ensuring that
our scholars continue to have that extra dimension to their scholar‐
ship.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: There was an indigenous student you
wanted to speak about, but you didn't have enough time.

Mr. Edward Johnson: Yes, it's Jesse Thistle, who wrote a very
moving book on his rise, From the Ashes, having done prison time
and having had a very rough ride through life. He turned himself
around, got a B.A. and an M.A., and then was given a Trudeau
Foundation scholarship. He has said over and over again that it
changed his life. I think Canada has benefited hugely from his ex‐
perience from all dimensions of his very textured life.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That is our time.

Mr. Johnson, I do want to thank you.
[Translation]

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: On a point of order, Mr. Chair,
I'd like to have one specific very important clarification from
Mr. Johnson.

Will the tax receipts and bank statements mentioned in your tes‐
timony be included in the 160 pages that are to be sent to the com‐
mittee?

Mr. Edward Johnson: The receipts are included.

What was the other item you mentioned?

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: I'm talking about the bank
statements showing the gifts, where they are from, etc.

Mr. Edward Johnson: The foundation's bank statements are not
included, but I could arrange to provide them.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: I would appreciate that. Thank
you very much.

[English]

The Chair: Mr. Johnson, I appreciate your coming in today.
Thank you. We might see you my way, if you're ever back for one
of the meetings with the Atlantic Salmon Federation.

Mr. Edward Johnson: I expect good returns.

The Chair: I will suspend this meeting for a few minutes. We're
going to go in camera, and we'll take up a few points up there. I
know there are flights. We're going to talk about that right off the
bat.

Mr. Johnson, thank you very much.

We will clear the room of people who should not be here; other‐
wise, you're welcome to stay, and we'll start up in about two to
three minutes. Thank you.

[Proceedings continue in camera]

 









Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

Publié en conformité de l’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION PERMISSION DU PRÉSIDENT
The proceedings of the House of Commons and its commit‐
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public ac‐
cess. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its committees is nonetheless re‐
served. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises à la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilège
parlementaire de contrôler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle possède tous les droits d’auteur sur
celles-ci.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its committees, in whole or in part and in any medium,
is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accu‐
rate and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as copy‐
right infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act. Au‐
thorization may be obtained on written application to the Of‐
fice of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre
et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel sup‐
port, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne soit
pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n’est toutefois pas
permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les délibéra‐
tions à des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit
financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou
non formellement autorisée peut être considérée comme une
violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le droit
d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut être obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président
de la Chambre des communes.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceed‐
ings of the House of Commons does not extend to these per‐
mitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs
to a committee of the House of Commons, authorization for
reproduction may be required from the authors in accor‐
dance with the Copyright Act.

La reproduction conforme à la présente permission ne con‐
stitue pas une publication sous l’autorité de la Chambre. Le
privilège absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la Cham‐
bre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu’une
reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés à un comité
de la Chambre, il peut être nécessaire d’obtenir de leurs au‐
teurs l’autorisation de les reproduire, conformément à la Loi
sur le droit d’auteur.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per‐
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


